TRANSPORTATION RESEARCH



2002 California HOV Summit

Proceedings



May 3, 2002 Beckman Center Irvine, California

TRANSPORTATION RESEARCH BOARD

OF THE NATIONAL ACADEMIES

2002 California HOV Summit

TRB COMMITTEE ON HIGH OCCUPANCY VEHICLE SYSTEMS (A3A06)

Participating Organizations

American Planning Association, Orange County Section
Automobile Club of Southern California
California Department of Transportation
City of Irvine
Los Angeles County Metropolitan Transportation Authority
Metropolitan Transit Development Board, San Diego
Metropolitan Transportation Commission, San Francisco Bay Area
Orange County Transportation Authority
San Bernardino Associated Governments
San Diego Association Governments

South Coast Air Quality Management District Southern California Association of Governments University of California at Irvine, Department of Urban and Regional Planning

Summit Organizing Group

Dave Schumacher and Danny Wu, Cochairs

Al Bowser Donald G. Capelle Stewart Chesler Tom Choe Antonette Clark Cheryl Collier Chuck Fuhs
Dawn Helou
Darren Henderson
Doug Kimsey
Michelle Kirkhoff
Kelly Lynn
Marta Maestas
Ray Mellen

Jinny J. Park Frank Quon Deborah Redman Ramakrishna Tadi Ric Teano Michael Turner

Richard Cunard, TRB Staff Representative

TRB website: www.TRB.org

Transportation Research Board 500 Fifth Street, NW Washington, DC 20001

The Transportation Research Board is a division of the National Research Council, which serves as an independent adviser to the federal government on scientific and technical questions of national importance. The National Research Council, jointly administered by the National Academy of Sciences, the National Academy of Engineering, and the Institute of Medicine, brings the resources of the entire scientific and technical community to bear on national problems through its volunteer advisory committees.

The **Transportation Research Board** is distributing this Circular to make the information contained herein available for use by individual practitioners in state and local transportation agencies, researchers in academic institutions, and other members of the transportation research community. The information in this Circular was taken directly from the submissions of the authors. This document is not a report of the National Research Council or of the National Academy of Sciences.

Contents

Introduction	1
Major Themes	1
Unresolved Issues	2
Welcoming and Summit Overview	3
Opening Remarks	5
Keynote Address	7
Executive Panel Presentations	9
Federal Perspective	
San Diego Perspective	
San Francisco Bay Area Perspective	
Caltrans Perspective.	
What Does the Public Think About HOVs?	15
Roundtable Discussion	17
Summary of Morning Session	21
Major Findings from Los Angeles County Metropolitan	
Transit Authority HOV Performance Program	22
Breakout Groups: Concurrent Sessions	26
Breakout Group 1: "Saves Time Saves Time Saves Time":	
HOV Market Research	26
Breakout Group 2: "Where's the Bus?":	
HOV Transit Utilization and Lane Productivity	27
Breakout Group 3: "One Size Does Not Fit All": HOV Lane Operations	27
Breakout Group 4: "Will the Real Measures of Success Please Drive Forward?":	
HOV Performance Evaluation and Data Collection	
Breakout Group Summary	29
Closing Remarks	30
Breakout Group Summaries	31
Summit Photos	36
Particinants I ist	37

Introduction

On May 3, 2002, the Transportation Research Board (TRB) Committee on High-Occupancy Vehicle (HOV) Systems (A3A06) hosted a 2002 California HOV Summit in Irvine, California. Building off the success of the first technical summit on HOV lanes held 2 years ago, this year's 2002 California HOV Summit brought together top transportation leaders and elected and appointed officials from around the state to discuss the latest events and research findings surrounding HOV lanes. *HOVs Work* was the principal theme at this year's event. The Summit objectives were to:

- Improve the understanding of HOV planning and operations;
- Provide comprehensive and objective research findings;
- Discuss the top HOV issues brought forth by the public and elected-officials;
- Communicate statewide and regional performance measures;
- Discuss future legislative changes that are performance-based; and
- Discuss approaches to maximize HOV lane productivity.

More than 125 professionals representing academia, planning, engineering, operations, transit, and private industry, as well as elected and appointed officials from local, regional, and state government, participated at this 1-day Summit. The agenda included panel presentations from top transportation executives from both northern and southern California, a lively roundtable discussion that invited perspectives on HOVs from political leaders, private industry, and the media, and afternoon breakout groups.



Throughout the Summit, the participants not only benefited from hearing some of the latest research findings on HOV performance, but participants also suggested actions aimed at improving the operations and future planning of HOV facilities in the state. Some key themes that were expressed by Summit attendees include the following:

MAJOR THEMES

- 1. HOVs work!
- 2. Partnering is vital to HOV success.
- 3. Complete the HOV system.
- 4. Improve mobility and quality of life.
- 5. Provide flexibility and choice.
- 6. Marketing and education are needed.
- 7. HOVs are part of an overall mobility strategy.

- 8. Incident management and enforcement.
- 9. Travel time and trip reliability are what matters.
- 10. Operational changes should be performance based.

UNRESOLVED ISSUES

- 1. The overall average vehicle occupancy trend is declining.
- 2. Goals are multiple and ill-defined.
- 3. Funding is needed to complete the system.
- 4. HOV lanes are over-utilized.
- 5. Occupancy restrictions are increasing.
- 6. Integration with transit and other strategies should be pursued.
- 7. Views on pricing strategies are mixed.
- 8. HOV reliability should be measured.

Welcoming and Summit Overview

DAVE SCHUMACHER

Chair, TRB Committee on HOV Systems

SARAH CATZ

Former Chair, Orange County Transportation Authority Board

Dave Schumacher, Chair of the TRB Committee on HOV Systems, opened the 2002 HOV Summit by welcoming attendees to the Beckman Center. To learn more about the Committee, Schumacher invited the attendees to visit the Committee's new website at www.hovworld.com. "Today's HOV Summit builds off the success of a Technical Summit that was held in the same venue about 2 years ago," Schumacher said. Schumacher then provided an outline of the program agenda. Schumacher thanked the sponsors, a number of agencies from throughout the state that lent their support to making this HOV Summit possible. The podium was then turned over to Sarah Catz, the former chair of the Orange County Transportation Authority (OCTA) Board, to provide some additional opening remarks.

Sarah Catz welcomed the attendees to Orange County. Catz, who retired from serving on the OCTA Board in January, said that during her 10 years of serving on the board that she was a strong proponent of HOV lanes. "I've felt this way because HOV lanes work and they increase our mobility," said Catz. She said that it's absolutely perfect that the Summit is being held in Orange County because Orange County has been a real leader in the building of HOV lanes. She said that Orange County currently has 231 HOV lane-miles and another 28 mi planned for the Garden Grove Freeway (State Route 22). "During peak hours our lanes carry over 1,600 cars per hour," Catz said. "And right now on the 405 you can go from South Orange County all the way to LAX and not have to leave the carpool lanes." Unfortunately, Catz couldn't say the same about the Santa Ana Freeway (Interstate 5). She indicated that carpoolers currently traveling through Orange County, particularly northbound on the I-5 HOV lanes during rush hours have to merge over





to the mixed-flow lanes because the there are presently no HOV lanes in the adjacent county. Catz used the example of the fax machine, whereby "if one person has a fax machine it's not very useful, if two people have a fax machine it's helpful…but if everybody had a fax machine just think how effective you can be." She said this same principle applies to HOV lanes.

"We're trying to get commuters to carpool, we're trying to get users to use these lanes, and we're finding that many of our commuters go between counties and not just within Orange County," she reported. "If every County in our region has a good HOV system, I think we can encourage more and more people to use HOV lanes and to carpool."

Catz closed by emphasizing one of the key issues that needs to be discussed today, which is who gets to use the carpool lanes: "Is it just two or more people or three or more people or should it be anyone who advances reducing congestion and improving our air quality?" Then there are questions about vehicle and lane types: "Should it be hybrid vehicles, and should we be discussing HOT lanes?" Catz encouraged the gathering, "Working together on these issues, we can build the absolute best HOV system in the nation."

Opening Remarks

ROGER SNOBLE

Los Angeles County Metropolitan Transportation Authority

Roger Snoble, Chief Executive Officer of the Los Angeles County Metropolitan Transportation Authority was introduced to give the Opening Remarks. Snoble used today as an example of an excellent day to carpool because of this morning's accident on the I-5. He talked about the daily frustrations of sitting in traffic and the significant amount of delay caused by congestion.

"The Los Angeles area operates almost 400 miles of HOV lanes in conjunction with an extremely good partner, Caltrans," Snoble said. He praised the role of today's Caltrans and for their new focus on mobility improvements and for Caltrans's interest in being partners with others who are interested in improving mobility. Snoble also recognized the strong leadership of both Maria-Contreras Sweet, the Secretary of Business, Transportation and Housing, and Jeff Morales, the Director of Caltrans, and for their interest in working with the regions in true partnership in recent years.

Snoble said that there are some really fantastic things going on with the HOV systems in Los Angeles and Orange Counties. "This is a tremendous transportation laboratory, because there are so many different kinds of things going on and so many different kinds challenges being met by innovative kinds of things in the Southern California area that most people are not aware of. All this innovation can only happen through partnerships with different agencies, the business community, and with the general public. We just can't do things the way we used to do things. And today it takes an immense effort to get anything done, particularly if you're going to affect neighborhoods and environments. Most of the transportation improvements that we're looking at in some way, shape, or form do affect people, but vastly benefit more people if we can get them built, so it takes tremendous partnerships and tremendous focus and persistence to build the kinds of improvements that we know that we can build and make them work."

Snoble talked about how the partnership between the MTA and Caltrans and the California Transportation Commission, the cities involved and the County are all essential if we're ever to get anything done. He said, "Part of the problem that Southern California has experienced in the past is that there hasn't always been that sense of teamwork, either at the state level or the federal level, and so one of the things that we need to work on is a consistent transportation program in front of our legislative bodies so that they know what they are supposed to be working on." HOV lanes are one of those programs that we need to work on with our legislators to get the point across that HOV lanes are important and that the funds that go to HOV lanes are extremely well spent," Snoble said. He cited the example of the recent opening of the southbound I-405 HOV lanes, which has provided tremendous relief to one of the busiest freeways in the country. "When that HOV lane opened up not only did we provide a very, very quick way for carpoolers and vanpoolers to get through there, it actually speeded up the speeds on the mainlines and reduced some of the congestion on the parallel surface streets, and so it's been very successful since it's opening," Snoble said. "And now we're working very hard on the northbound lanes." Even though Los Angeles County operates nearly 400 miles of HOV lanes, there are still gaps to be closed, according to Snoble. "Those gaps cause additional delays to the carpoolers as well as the main lanes."

Snoble then offered some suggestions for making HOV lanes work better after they're built. "We spend a lot of time and energy constructing them and getting them built, but there are some things that are really important to making sure that they operate effectively," Snoble said. He emphasized the importance of HOV enforcement, incident detection and clearance in both the HOV lanes as well as the main lanes, and better ways to manage our freeways. Snoble also talked about efforts underway in conjunction with the Southern California Association of Governments (SCAG) to better utilize the HOV lanes through better marketing, primarily to employer-sponsored vanpools. Better utilization of the HOV lanes by transit buses is another area that requires greater attention so that the HOV lanes are used to their greatest extent. Snoble closed by saying, "We've demonstrated that they can work. We just need to follow through, continue to build the ones that make sense. and figure out how we can operate them better and better all the time."



Keynote Address

TONY HARRIS

California Department of Transportation

Due to the state budget deliberations, the State Secretary of Business, Transportation & Housing, Maria-Contreras Sweet was unable to give the Keynote Address. In her absence, Tony Harris, Chief Deputy Director of Caltrans, had agreed to step in to give her speech. Harris opened by saying that this Summit is a great opportunity to begin to help educate and to have everybody begin to understand the importance of HOV lanes. He focused on the issue of quality of life as the main reason why people want to move to California. "And one of those things that makes the quality of life important is mobility," Harris said. "HOV has to begin to be viewed as part of an overall system management." Harris further elaborated on the importance of partnerships with the various transportation agencies. He said, "But one of the challenges that we have is you don't flip a switch and you have the whole system built at once." "And because of that, we are building pieces of it and moving forward." According to Harris, the key to the usage of the HOV system is looking at ways to encourage people to use it and to talk about some of the major benefits.

Harris then indicated that there is a significant amount of transportation work that's occurring in California. "By the end of the calendar year there's going to be around \$7 billion

worth of improvements underway," Harris said. "And that's creating approximately 182,000 jobs across the state. This program is important and it stimulates the economy, but we cannot build our way out of this effort. First and foremost is to look at how we can complete the system. We have to look at ways to do things differently." Harris credited Orange County for developing an HOV system that's nearly a total system, which means that carpoolers can make their trips pretty much without getting out of the HOV system until they reach their destinations. Harris also emphasized the importance of time savings. He used the example of the recent opening of the southbound HOV lanes on I-405, where carpoolers have said that it's saving them as much as 15 minutes, which is a big deal because the time savings adds up. He talked how important it is to share these kinds of stories about the benefits of HOV lanes.



Harris also talked about the importance of improving the usage of the total transportation and not just the HOV system. He warned that the average vehicle occupancy (AVO) trend is going in the wrong direction. "We have to look at how to improve the occupancy rate not only in the HOV lanes, but all lanes and transit systems overall," said Harris. "That's why we at Caltrans are beginning to talk about setting a goal to improve statewide transit ridership. It's important to set a goal like this because it begins to drive the mindset, to encourage us to engage, to work with the different operators, to listen to the users of the systems, and to find out what is needed to encourage people to consider carpooling, to consider taking a bus, and to consider taking a train. The idea is not to get people to change their mode of travel on every trip, it's to get people to think about other options and try them." Harris closed by reiterating the importance of partnerships, not just with Caltrans and the regional transportation agencies, but also with businesses and our communities.

Executive Panel Presentations

MARK PISANO

Moderator Southern California Association of Governments

The session on Executive Panel Presentations featured top transportation executives from around the state of California to provide a sense of how different regions approach the development and operation of HOV lanes. This session was moderated by Mark Pisano, Executive Director, Southern California Association of Governments. Pisano began by first giving audience members a brief overview of the HOV system in the Southern California region. He talked about the El Monte Busway as being one of the early successes in this region, and the failed attempt at HOV lanes on the Santa Monica Freeway. Pisano noted that the region currently has 580 miles of HOV lanes. He said the adopted Regional Transportation Plan (RTP), which is the basis for the region's air quality plan, calls for HOVs, carpools, and vanpools as a major

component that will expand the HOV system to 1,200 miles between now and the year 2025. Pisano also talked about the RTP's emphasis on increasing vanpool usage over the next 25 years.

Pisano also underscored some of the points made earlier by Tony Harris by saying, "The HOV system itself is demonstrating that it works in accordance with our designs and plans, but the overall mode split for ridesharing within our region, and which is true across most of the country, is not achieving the targets that we have set forth nationally and here in our region." Pisano emphasized the need to focus on marketing concepts that can sell the time savings and the productivity gains that are attributable to HOV lanes. Pisano also emphasized the need for partnerships in order to increase the ridesharing mode split. Pisano then provided a brief introduction for each of the panelists.



FEDERAL PERSPECTIVE

Jeff Lindley

Director, Office of Travel Management, FHWA

Jeff Lindley, Director, Office of Travel Management, FHWA presented a series of slides on the federal perspective on HOV lanes. His presentation focused on the basis for FHWA's support for HOV facilities. Lindley said, "We believe that HOV facilities are a cost-effective, environmentally friendly investment to make in the transportation system to improve mobility, particularly in large, congested metropolitan areas." He echoed the point made earlier that HOV lanes are part of a bigger mobility picture, and that they are not just stand-alone facilities. In order to address traffic congestion, Lindley said that we have to employ a three-pronged strategy that includes increasing capacity, managing capacity, and managing demand. According to Lindley, HOV facilities do all three. "We support HOV lanes because they work and they move much more people than single-occupancy vehicle (SOV) lanes," Lindley said. "They provide travel time savings and maybe more importantly reliability for people that use them."

The bigger picture is regional mobility. Lindley emphasized that HOV facilities can't be implemented in a vacuum; they're part of a bigger mobility picture. According to Lindley, "HOV facilities should be part of a network, there has to be coordination with transit services, and you have to have good support facilities and services [e.g., enforcement, park and ride facilities ridesharing and transportation demand management (TDM) strategies]. He said that places around the country that focus on these items are places that have successful HOV facilities, and some of the less successful HOV facilities are in places that haven't looked at the bigger picture.



However, Lindley said, "HOV lanes are not appropriate for every situation, and they don't always work the way they're planned."

Lindley then briefly talked about FHWA's position and policies with regard to making significant changes to the operation of HOV facilities. Lindley said that when areas do make changes to HOV facilities they first and foremost use all the techniques to make the HOV facilities a success. And if that fails, Lindley pointed out that there's a federal process that is required in order to make any significant changes to the hours of operation, occupancy requirements, or the potential to convert an HOV facility back to a regular mixed-flow lane. This policy, which grew out of what happened in New Jersey in 1998, is available for download at www.ops.fhwa.dot.gov/Travel/traffic/hov.

Essentially, the federal policy requires that any significant change to HOV operations be coordinated with the FHWA and FTA division office as appropriate, and that an analysis be conducted of the impacts of the proposed change. A full analysis of the safety and operational impacts is generally required. "Probably more complicated are the potential impacts relative to funding sources, air quality, and environmental assurances and commitments that were made during the project implementation process." Lindley said. "Many of the lanes across the country were built

with special categories of federal-aid funds that can't be used to build single-occupant vehicle capacity." And if you go back later and try to convert an HOV lane back to a single-occupant vehicle lane, you quickly find yourself sideways with those funding restrictions.

Lindley also noted that, contrary to popular belief, there's no easy way to pay back the funds. There is no provision in federal law that would allow a state or a municipality to revert an HOV facility back to SOV use and to pay the money back, and if attempted could lead to federal sanctions. Lindley also stated that air quality may be another issue, because HOV lanes are used in many areas in order to meet the conformity determination with regard to the Clean Air Act. And because there may be prior commitments that could be violated, consultation and full analysis of the impacts are critical before a decision can be made about making any significant changes to HOV operations.

SAN DIEGO PERSPECTIVE

Robert Parrott

Deputy Executive Director, San Diego Association of Governments

Robert Parrott, Deputy Executive Director, San Diego Association of Governments (SANDAG), presented the San Diego region's planned HOV system and its managed lanes strategy. Parrott said that the San Diego region today does not have an HOV system but has three isolated HOV facilities on I-15, the northbound lane on I-5, and a peak-period—only lane in the South Bay on State Route 54. He indicated that only 5% of the freeway segments in San Diego have HOV facilities. "San Diego's draft future plan calls for a true HOV system, including segments with multiple lanes in each direction, and managed lanes," Parrott said. "Our HOV system goes from that 5% to over 50% of the freeway miles with HOV facilities." He said, "The future of the HOV system will provide choices for improved mobility—choices such as travel time savings that will increase our carpools and our vanpools and move more people not just more vehicles." Parrott said that the planned HOV system allows implementation of the regional transit vision and a bus rapid transit system on the HOV lanes. He also indicated that it provides additional opportunities for value pricing to better utilize the HOV facilities as usage grows.

Parrott then briefly described San Diego's regional transit vision, which was approved by SANDAG's board of directors last November and will be included in its 2030 regional

transportation plan. This was a cooperative effort developed by SANDAG, the two transit districts—the Metropolitan Transit Development Board (MTDB) and North County Transit District (NTDB)—and Caltrans. According to Parrott, "Implementation of the regional transit vision and the bus rapid transit system will rely heavily on the HOV system being planned." He explained that the regional transit vision provides a network of convenient, reliable, fast, and safe transit service that interconnects the region. It's intended to make transit as fast and as



convenient as the automobile. Parrott also noted the importance of integrating land use planning with transit, and for communities to be designed for walkability. He said, "Transportation problems cannot be solved solely with transportation solutions."

Parrott explained that there are four levels of transit service that are envisioned: 1) Green Car—community based service with low speeds and frequent stops; 2) Blue Car—local service; 3) Red Car—corridor service with higher speeds, less frequent stops; and 4) Yellow Car—regional service with high speeds and limited stops with frequencies of 10 min or less. He said that, to increase speeds, Yellow and Red Car service will make extensive use of the HOV lanes and the preferential treatments on local surface streets. Park-and-ride lots, specially designed transit stations, and direct access ramps are also being planned in conjunction with the system to make transit a more attractive alternative. Parrott provided some estimates on the increases in transit mode share, the greatest gain (increase to 20% to 30% mode split) forecasted in select employment corridors.

Parrott then talked about San Diego's I-15 FastTrak program, which allows solo drivers to pay a per trip fee to use the existing HOV lanes along an eight mile stretch of the I-15. He indicated that carpoolers continue to use the lanes for free. Physically, he said, the carpool lanes are separated by barrier from the main lanes, and access is currently at the two ends. Parrott said, "FastTrak is a model for using existing infrastructure more efficiently." This was made possible because of partnerships with Caltrans, MTDB, California Highway Patrol (CHP), the state legislature, the Governor's office, and SANDAG. The program provides faster commutes for solo drivers and also funds express bus service in the corridor. He said the project had three goals: 1) increase the overall usage of the express lanes when they were first ordinary carpool lanes; 2) better utilize a facility that was underutilized; and 3) test whether value pricing could help relieve traffic congestion on the main lanes of I-15 and generate toll revenues to fund transit improvements. Parrott noted that the experience to date has been very positive. Before the project began in 1995, 9,200 vehicles used the lanes each day. Now almost twice that amount uses the facility per day, according to Parrott. There's also been a substantial increase in carpools, said Parrott. Before the project, there were 7,700 carpools, and now there are over 14,400 per day. Transit ridership on the express bus service has also increased. HOV lane violation rates have dropped from 15% to 2%.

HOV Managed Lanes are also planned for 20 mi of the I-15 corridor, which will be built in three segments. According to Parrott, the first segment will be built just north of the current two-lane reversible facility. This segment is a completely funded project in the State Transportation Improvement Plan (STIP), partners with Caltrans in the use of Grant Anticipation Revenue Vehicle (GARVEE) Bonds, and is scheduled to be open in 2006–2008. "Managed lanes provides flexibility in the number of lanes by direction and in different uses," Parrott said. "It also allows us to serve multiple purposes, and given that it's primarily within the median of the existing right-of-way, it's cost-effective and can be implemented quicker. The managed lanes will be a four-lane facility with movable barriers to serve the large directional split on the I-15, and, unlike two current reversible lanes, there will be intermediate access points along the way. Value pricing will also be incorporated into its operation.

Lastly, Parrott briefly talked about the importance for good HOV signage. "We have 20 plus signs on the northbound I-5 HOV lanes that define what a carpool lane is, what the violation is, but we don't have one sign telling people how to join a carpool," Parrott said. "We need to do a better job in terms of when we develop our HOV facilities to develop a signage plan." He talked about San Diego's recent innovation of partnering with Caltrans to advertise rideshare

information at HOV by-pass ramps locations. Limited rideshare information is also being shown on the Caltrans changeable message signs, but Parrott noted that the messages have to be more consumer oriented.

SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA PERSPECTIVE

Steve Heminger

Executive Director, Metropolitan Transportation Commission

The next speaker was Steve Heminger, Executive Director of the Metropolitan Transportation Commission (MTC), who gave the northern California perspective and experience on HOV lanes. Heminger noted that the Bay Bridge project was the Bay Area's first HOV facility, which started as a bus-only facility in 1970. Today, there are over 300 mi of HOV lanes in operation in the Bay Area. The long range plan builds that out to 600 mi by 2025. He said that most of the system is in the Silicon Valley. Significant expansions are planned in the North Bay on the U.S. 101 in Marin and Sonoma Counties, on I-80 in Solano County, as well as a couple of toll bridges with carpool lanes.

Heminger explained that their HOV lanes are operated differently than southern California. HOV lanes in the Bay Area are only operated during the peak hours, they are not barrier separated, and users don't have to cross double yellow lines. Thus, these lanes are only oriented towards the peak. The occupancy requirements are also different. Heminger said that in the Bay Area it's three plus on some of the toll bridge approaches and on the I-80, and everything else is two plus.

Part of the Bay Area's success in HOV lanes, according to Heminger, is the extensive amount of planning, starting with the MTC's long-range plan and continuing through to an HOV Master Plan, which is currently being updated. He talked about their peer review process by the county level agencies, by the public, by the legislators, and an established committee comprised of MTC, Caltrans, and the CHP that rigorously monitors the HOV lanes. Heminger said, "One of the tests to that partnership is that we're willing to admit failure as was done on the I-580 in Contra Costa County which eventually was re-designated to mixed-flow lanes.

Heminger then talked about the issue of "freelancing"—legislated changes to HOV facilities. He used the example of the I-580 in Alameda County, in which HOV lanes were introduced as a result of litigation when it really wasn't ready. The HOV lanes were de-designated

after 5 years, and then state and federal legislators put a ban in federal and state law prohibiting HOV lanes in unincorporated Alameda County. This law later had to be repealed, at both the state and federal level, so that HOV lanes could be built on the I-680, which is now the second most utilized HOV lane in the Bay Area. Another example cited by Heminger was the I-80, which is an HOV3+ facility that was threatened with litigation unless it was opened as a 24-h HOV facility. The compromise led to an 18-month demonstration of 12-h lanes, basically all day long. The state legislature



then felt that the lanes weren't being used during the day, and later permitted the demonstration to be terminated and the facility to be operated during peak hours only.

Like Los Angeles and San Diego, the Bay Area is also attempting to make use of some of excess HOV lane capacity with express bus services. Approximately \$40 million was included in the Governor's plan to help the Bay Area purchase additional express buses and to add service to the HOV lanes that exist and those planned to be built.

Heminger further elaborated on MTC's HOV Master Plan Update. He said that the process is used to evaluate how they are doing and how they might do better. "This planning process will, perhaps, be the most extensive of any we've done," Heminger said. "It comes on the heels of an air quality plan, and so there's a lot of interest in what you might call 'non-traditional approaches." He talked about the possibility of using freeway shoulders where right-of-way is limited, using reversible HOV lanes, converting HOV lanes to 3+ where warranted (e.g., I-80), and the possibility for additional HOV freeway connectors.

Heminger closed by talking about the role of "casual carpooling" in the Bay Area, whereby people get into carpools on the spot, primarily in the East Bay to get onto the HOV lanes in order to bypass the queue and toll at the Bay Bridge and getting into San Francisco. He said that this arrangement not only provides a time savings but a money savings. One of the reasons for its success is that there's good transit service back to the East Bay. From surveys, the MTC has estimated that casual carpoolers comprise about 10,000 people, most do it most of the time, most make the return trip on transit, and most are former transit riders.

CALTRANS PERSPECTIVE

Tony Harris

Chief Deputy Director, California Department of Transportation

Tony Harris spoke a second time, this time representing Caltrans's perspective on HOV lanes. Specifically, Harris offered a couple of points that he felt warranted further discussion during the afternoon breakout sessions. The first point made was that not every HOV lane is the same, which is a point that was made evident in the way that HOV lanes are operated in Los Angeles, in San Diego, and in the San Francisco Bay Area. Harris said that we have to look at HOV lanes from a corridor perspective. He also emphasized the need to be flexible in the way that HOV systems are managed. To determine the level of flexibility that's needed, "we need to look at

some clear way of assessing performance and then be prepared to adjust," Harris said.

The second point made by Harris was the need to complete the HOV system. Harris said, "We need to look beyond the state highway system. Trips don't just start on the on-ramp and end on the off-ramp. We need to think of the beginning and the ending of the trips." Harris said we need to have more discussion about building HOV lanes on local city streets that tie into the total network. An example is "drop ramps,"



which provide direct access to freeway HOV lanes from local streets. Safety is also important because it affects the reliability of the trips. Harris said that in order to effectively motivate people to use the HOV lanes, we need to maintain system reliability for users. Lastly, Harris talked about the importance for providing information on choices. He said, "A lot of effort has been put into giving information on the different types of transit systems, but not a lot of information has been put out there on the HOV system and what it means to you if you choose to use it." Harris also commended the LACMTA on its push for performance measures and the management of the system. He said that more of this has to be looked at, and that we need to use the results for systems management. We also need to do a better job about telling the story of the benefits of HOV lanes. He said that positive stories need to be told to our legislators and to our users.

WHAT DOES THE PUBLIC THINK ABOUT HOVS?

Heidi Stamm

Principal, HS Public Affairs, Seattle, Washington

After the morning break, Heidi Stamm provided a summary of the market research results from the Los Angeles County Metropolitan Transit Authority (LACMTA) HOV Performance Program. Stamm, who is a member of the consultant team, acknowledged the work of Mark McCourt and his firm, Strategic Consulting and Research, which conducted the general public telephone survey and other market research activities associated with the project. According to Stamm, "We now have some wonderful baseline information on attitudes and opinions about the customers in Los Angeles County that we can overlay with the actual operations activities that are taking place in the county as well."

She began by first introducing the background and methodology used for the LACMTA research. The research involved 3,273 telephone surveys of people 18 years and older who live in Los Angeles County. Gender, age, and ethnicity were balanced to match that of the demographics of Los Angeles County. The methodology involved random digit dialing, a minimum of five call attempts, a 1-800 call-back number, and surveys in both English and Spanish. The surveys were conducted over a 4-month period, and the final surveys were completed just about 1 year ago to date. The research was also stratified by geographic sub-regions throughout the county so that the

data could be cross-tabulated to a very small geographic area within Los Angeles County. Stamm presented a chart, which showed that the attitudes and opinions towards HOV facilities varied very little from sub-region to sub-region. According to Stamm, "From a marketer's perspective that's great, because the education and promotional messages that we put out there are going to ring true to people throughout the county, and we don't need to segment those messages by sub-region."

Stamm then presented a series of charts summarizing some of the important survey responses. Summit attendees had also



filled out a survey questionnaire at check-in to indicate how they felt Los Angeles County residents had responded to the highlighted questions. The results of the audience responses were then compared to the actual response rate from Los Angeles County residents. When asked, "Overall do you support or oppose having carpool lanes on Los Angeles County freeways," the response was an overwhelming 88% support. The audience felt that only 83% of Los Angeles County residents would indicate positive support. This seemed to suggest that the general public is actually more supportive of HOV lanes than what transportation professionals had expected from the public. On the question about why do people support having HOV facilities, the top two responses were that it shortens their trip time and that it reduces congestion. The audience had expected that reducing congestion would be less of a determinant for why people support having HOV facilities. Another significant difference between the public and the audience perceptions was that the public was more likely to think HOV facilities important for encouraging people to carpool than the audience thought they would be. Regarding the statement that carpool lanes are more efficient than regular freeway lanes, 53% of L.A. County residents indicated that they "Agree" and another 19% that they "Strongly Agree." This was about the same as what the audience believed the public perception would be. Again, 48% agreed that carpool lanes reduce congestion in all lanes, and only 4% strongly disagreed with that statement. On the question of utilization, 37% of the population feels that HOV lanes are used sufficiently, and about the same percent feels that they are underutilized. The audience actually thought the underutilization response from the public would have been higher. Should the carpool lane system be completed so that there is a carpool lane on every freeway? Eighty-nine percent said "yes" to completing the system. "It's results like this, combined with a couple of other statistics that we really need to tell to the media, to our elected officials, to our neighborhood groups, and to our environmental groups," Stamm said. "Not only do people like HOV lanes, they think that the HOV system should be completed, and they are also willing to pay for it." She said that when we run into problems in other parts of the country, it's typically because the level of support is questionable, the public perceives underutilization of the lanes, or the public is unwilling to pay for them. Stamm said that this is clearly not the issue for Los Angeles County.

Roundtable Discussion

PETER VALK

Moderator

President, Transportation Management Services, Pasadena, California

Peter Valk invited the "Roundtable" participants on stage. His firm, Transportation Management Services, was also part of the LACMTA consultant team that conducted a series of focus group meetings and executive interviews. He began this session by introducing the following dignitaries who were formally invited to participate in the day's roundtable discussion: Senator Betty Karnette (27th District), Immediate Past Chair of the Senate Transportation Committee; Tim Keenan, Vice-Chair of the Orange County Transportation Authority (OCTA) Board and Councilman for the City of Cypress; Allen Lawrence, Commissioner and Immediate Past-Chair of the California Transportation Commission (CTC) and Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Allen Lawrence and Associates; Gene Hauck, President of SuperShuttle Los Angeles; and Chris Hughes, Traffic Reporter/Producer at Airwatch America.

The discussion started with some brief opening remarks from each of the panelists. Panelists were asked for their thoughts on a series of questions, which were shown on the screen, and audience members were encouraged to fill out questionnaire cards that were later used to generate further discussion and interaction with the panelists. Senator Karnette began by noting her longtime interest in the topic of transportation, and in particular her support for carpool lanes. She said that it was her constituents, transportation professionals, people she met at dinner parties, her friends, neighbors and the like that influenced her opinion towards HOV lanes. As an elected official, she said that one of the indicators of success is whether the public supports HOV lanes. From the survey results, she said that it seems pretty clear that people like them. She said that she didn't see any reason to change her position towards HOV lanes, since the system seems to be working. Nonetheless, Senator Karnette noted the importance of having an open mind and to be forward thinking in order to effect positive change.

Commissioner Lawrence also noted his positive support for HOV lanes. As a member of the California Transportation Commission, he said that HOV lanes are an integral part of the

state's transportation system. Lawrence reiterated Tony Harris' comments about Caltrans' number one mission, which is to improve mobility. He went further by saying, "Our number one mission is to improve mobility and to further enhance the quality of life." "HOV lanes are a valuable tool to maximize the people-moving capacity out of our freeway system," Lawrence said. At times when there is not significant congestion on our freeways, there's little benefit in restricting use of the HOV lane. The real value of HOV lanes is



that during periods of extreme congestion they enable us to maintain at least one lane at an acceptable level of service. That capacity, with the high level of service, should be used by transit buses and carpool vehicles in order to move the most people." Lawrence said, "The optimum strategy for HOV lane operations would be a demand-responsive system, similar to the system used to set the tolls charged on the SR-91. The HOV system operations should be based on technical traffic-management principles rather than theoretical or political controls." Lawrence also talked about the need to understand the regional patterns of congestion, the length of peak periods and off-peak periods, and the number of peak periods in a day. He talked about the need to incorporate better technology that can control access to the HOV lanes and can inform motorists of their travel options. Lawrence said, "We also need to build an extensive, connected HOV network so that the public-mobility and air-quality benefits justify the costs of the capital and operations." Lawrence said he believed that more and more people will use the HOV system as we continue to connect the lanes. He said that closing the gaps in the HOV system should be the priority, particularly in Southern California.

Gene Hauck then gave his thoughts on HOV lanes, particularly from industry perspective. He first noted that SuperShuttle operates in 23 airports throughout the United States and transports about 5 million passengers annually in various types of vehicles, primarily shared ride vans. He said that his industry is doing on a for-profit basis what people are doing anyway. He added that in 1995, SuperShuttle began voluntarily converting its fleet to natural gas vehicles. He said that in the beginning there was a lot of driver resistance to using the natural gas vans and that there were problems getting the vans turned around fast enough because of the limited fueling stations. Hauck said all that went away when the law was changed to allow low-emission vehicles with single occupants use of the HOV lanes. He said that this change really increased his company's operational efficiency, because vans could deadhead out and pick-up new passengers more frequently.

Chris Hughes said that he was surprised at some of the marketing statistics. Hughes then shared three main concerns that he has with HOV lanes: 1) lack of consensus on how to measure the success of HOV lanes, 2) diversion of existing carpoolers versus actual carpool formation, and 3) HOV lanes that become congested. He talked about his concern that different transportation agencies seem to have different ideas about the purpose of HOV lanes. He cited

different published materials that seem to conflict on whether HOV lanes reduce traffic congestion. He said that this type of mixed message needs to be resolved so that there is a common understanding of the purpose of HOV lanes, and a set of standards is needed which define what makes an HOV lane successful. According to Hughes, "They have to induce people to carpool. They have to encourage people to carpool and not serve carpools that would have been there anyway." Hughes also emphasized the importance of calculating the door-to-door travel time. He said that



Roundtable Discussion 19

carpoolers may actually lose some of the corridor time savings because of the time needed to pick-up and drop-off passengers. Hughes then talked about situations when the carpool lanes are more congested than the mixed-flow lanes. He said that if the response is to increase the occupancy restrictions then you risk losing most of the 2+ carpoolers.

Tim Keenan as well as a board member of the Orange County Transportation Authority (OCTA). He began by saying that the solutions to transportation problems are not just transportation related. He said that the problems are a result of other issues such as the jobs—housing imbalance, land use density, and sprawl. Keenan also agreed with earlier presentations, asserting the differences between northern and southern California. He said that the traffic patterns are clearly different. He said that the peak periods are not so fixed. Keenan also noted his surprise at the strong public support for HOV lanes. He said the trick is to get the 10% to 12% who oppose the HOV lanes to go out and buy an inherently low-emission vehicle so that they can use the HOV lanes as well as encourage more fueling stations. Keenan also indicated that, as part of OCTA's Ten Strategic Initiatives, his agency will be looking at the possibility of subsidizing toll-road users who carpool. He also agreed that an increased marketing and promotions effort is needed.

Peter Valk, the moderator, then engaged the roundtable discussants with some additional questions. He raised the point brought up by Chris Hughes, that if HOV lanes aren't supposed to reduce congestion, then should we continue to build them? Senator Karnette responded by saying yes because there are many people that carpool on a daily basis and need that extra incentive to continue carpooling. She said that the flexibility is important. She also believed that HOV lanes do relieve some congestion, although there are always new cars and drivers getting on the roads. Commissioner Lawrence also agreed that HOV lanes relieve congestion. From personal experience, he said that he often makes it a point to find a carpool partner before driving on the freeway. He said that two people sharing a ride to the same destination often get there earlier and faster, and experience less congestion and less hassle. Lawrence also believed that by using the HOV lanes that you're relieving some congestion in the mixed-flow lanes.

Tim Keenan said that the other reason to continue building HOV lanes is the goal to change patterns and habits, to encourage the next generation to think a little differently about the automobile and not just use it as a single rider. Keenan said the other reason is just to complete the HOV system. He cited the benefits of having continuous HOV lanes where carpoolers aren't forced to weave in and weave out of HOV lanes. Tim Hughes again noted the importance of knowing whether new carpools have been formed. Otherwise, he believed that HOV lanes aren't serving their purpose.

Valk then raised the question of whether an HOV lane which is not saving people time when the mixed-flow lanes aren't congested should be decommissioned? The discussants generally agreed that they should remain as HOV lanes because the facilities are planned for future growth. Keenan emphasized that we know the growth is coming, and that this is just planning ahead for that growth. "It may not be the majority, but a lot of people do want to do it (i.e., carpool)," Karnette said. "And as far as mixed-flow use by single occupant drivers, I think that it would be confusing." The discussants also debated about whether travel behavior has changed as a result of HOV lanes or whether it would happen after the system is completely built.

On the question of whether we've done a good job of explaining and marketing HOV lanes to the public, the discussants agreed "no." When asked what needs to be done and what messages need to be communicated, some of the discussants felt that because the system is not complete, the total benefits of using HOV lanes are not self apparent. Commissioner Lawrence

said that we need to have some public service advertising and better tie-in of the marketing of HOV lanes with park-and-ride lots and with vanpool and ridesharing—basically the total concept. Hauck talked about the need to market the flexibility and convenience afforded by HOV lanes, and not the facility itself or that it has to be used every day of the week for there to be a benefit. The discussants also debated somewhat whether the improved accessibility that HOV lanes provide actually hinders smart-growth policies. The group cited other external factors such as jobs—housing imbalance and affordable housing in the outlying areas as the more fundamental problems.

Valk then asked the question of whether it's appropriate to legislate operational policy for HOV lanes. Senator Karnette said that as much as possible should be done first at the local level before the state legislature should get involved. But she also felt that it should be okay for the legislature to test changes and to learn from the experience as had happened with the El Monte Busway. Keenan agreed that to the extent possible such decisions should be made at the local level, the folks closest to the problem. However, Hughes said that these are regional problems and often require the coordination between multiple counties. "This is democracy and that's the point, if you can't do it then come to the state and we'll try and do it," Senator Karnette said.

Are there other options or solutions to increase mobility, manage congestion, and provide travel time reliability that are better than HOV lanes? The discussants felt that tolling was a promising concept. Hughes talked about the benefit of tolling single-occupant vehicle use of the HOV lanes, which could then generate revenues to make improvements in that particular corridor. However, Senator Karnette cautioned that toll revenues should not be just kept in the corridor, because people don't just travel on a single corridor, they travel on multiple corridors, and therefore, there should be some flexibility with the revenues. Keenan said that we need to look at everything in our toolbox of strategies, particularly increasing the use by transit buses, both private and public. The group agreed that HOV lanes alone will not be able to accommodate the growth that is expected. "It has to be the expansion of our freeways, increases in transit, alternative transportation, as well as completion of the HOV system," Keenan said.

Lastly, on the question of where do we go from here? The group agreed that we have to be prepared with what to do as the HOV lanes reach capacity. Completing the HOV systems around the state was another priority. We also need to come to a consensus on what the criteria should be when evaluating HOV lane performance. Continued evaluation was another call to action. We also need to better market the cost-saving benefits of ridesharing. Looking broadly, the group agreed that better land use planning to help facilitate the use of transit systems should be another top priority.

Summary of Morning Session

DONALD G. CAPELLETRB Emeritus Member

Dr. Capelle provided a brief summary of the major themes, which were discussed during the morning sessions. He said that there was general consensus among the speakers that HOVs work, but as to how successfully they work remains to be discussed. Capelle reiterated the points made by Sarah Catz that it is important for HOV facilities to be developed as a system. Partnership was a major theme that was brought up by a number of the speakers. "In order to make HOV systems effective, you've got to have the partnership and input from all the participating agencies involved," Capelle said. He reiterated Tony Harris's comment about the importance for completing the gaps in the system. This is now becoming a priority for Los Angeles County so that users can benefit from a truly continuous HOV system. Capelle also noted that a couple of the speakers had emphasized the objective of improving mobility and enhance the quality of life. HOV lanes also can't operate in a vacuum. They have to be coordinated with transit services and other support facilities and services.

It was also apparent that flexibility is needed. Northern California and Southern California clearly have different needs; there are regional differences in traffic conditions and

land use patterns. Capelle reiterated from the survey results that travel time savings and reliability appear to be the most important benefits to users. There also seemed to be general agreement that operational changes should be based on experience and technical findings rather than legislated. Lastly, some other key points made during the morning sessions were better utilization of HOV lanes by transit, the need to maintain safety HOV lane operations, and greater focus on the marketing of HOV lanes, particularly the time savings and cost benefits.



Major Findings from Los Angeles County Metropolitan Transit Authority HOV Performance Program

RAYMOND MAEKAWA

Director, MTA Highway Programs

FRANK QUON

Deputy Director, Caltrans District 7

CHUCK FUHS

Senior Project Manager, Parsons Brinckerhoff, Quade & Douglas

ay Maekawa, Director of MTA's Highway Programs Development and Implementation, presented on what prompted the MTA to the last of the last presented on what prompted the MTA to conduct the HOV Performance Program. He began by giving some background on HOV lane development in Los Angeles County. He said that significant HOV lane expansion began in the early 1990s after SCAG forecasts indicated that the region would face a 33% increase in population and a 40% increase in travel demand by 2015. Freeway speeds were also forecasted to operate below 17 mph. In response, the MTA had at that time adopted a 30-Year Long-Range Transportation Plan to meet the projected travel demands. Maekawa indicated that the plan was comprehensive, including not just freeway expansions, but also rail transit, paratransit, bus transit, transportation systems management, and more importantly demand management strategies that focused on reducing trips rather than simply accommodating vehicle trips. "The primary emphasis of the MTA 30-Year Plan was to improve the management of the system," Maekawa said. "And to focus on person trips and goods movement." He said that one of the key elements of the plan was the HOV lane program. Initially, the HOV lane development was concentrated in the outlying areas. This was because those in outlying areas were the cheapest and easiest ones to build first. Maekawa presented a slide depicting the current Los Angeles HOV lane development program.

Maekawa talked about how the series of legislative bills enacted in response to perceived underutilization of HOV lanes affected MTA's HOV program. These legislative changes were in part what prompted the MTA to initiate the HOV Performance Program. Some of the study objectives included: 1) enhancing the existing database of data on HOV lane performance, 2) HOV policy development, and 3) improved marketing of HOV lanes. Maekawa also acknowledged the strong partnership between the MTA and Caltrans District 7 in this study effort.

He noted Caltrans' support in providing new travel time runs for all of the study locations and new traffic and occupancy counts. He concluded by saying that it was only through this cooperative effort that the study was able to analyze a very robust database.

Frank Quon, Deputy District Director of Caltrans District 7, followed. Quon noted the value and importance of HOV lanes in the state of California. He said that the HOV programs have been successfully



undertaken because of the partnerships that Caltrans has with the local regions. Governor Davis' Transportation Congestion Relief Program is another example of the importance of HOV lanes to the state, whereby additional funds were provided accelerate the completion of HOV facilities that otherwise would not have been possible due to funding limitations. Quon then recognized the importance for assessing how the HOV system is performing and what we've gotten in return for our investments. He talked about how the MTA HOV Performance Program had taken the right steps towards providing hard numbers on the performance benefits of HOV lanes. Quon commended the MTA for having that vision to undertake the study. He said that Caltrans also recognized the importance of such a study and how it also provided the resources and commitment in making this a meaningful HOV Performance Program. Quon believed that this study will not be of benefit only to us [Los Angeles] locally, but throughout the state and nationally. He closed by encouraging the study be continued and be conducted on an ongoing basis so that the total HOV system benefits can be understood, particularly as the system becomes connected.

Chuck Fuhs, Senior Project Manager with Parsons Brinckerhoff Quade & Douglas had the pleasure of presenting the technical findings of the LACMTA HOV Performance Program. Fuhs began by noting that this effort was born somewhat out of adversity, and at right around the same time that a California State Legislative Analyst's Report had recommended, among other things, that HOV lane performance evaluations be used in helping decide whether goals and objectives are being met. Though HOV performance monitoring been conducted on a regular basis in Southern California, the LACMTA-funded effort allowed greater investigation of the performance benefits of HOV lanes. Fuhs also acknowledged the Project Advisory Team, comprised of SCAG, Caltrans, CHP, adjacent county transportation agencies, and the Auto Club of Southern California, as well as input from the Orange County Drivers for Highway Safety group. He said that these diverse interests were extremely valuable in the shaping of the report.

Fuhs said that it was the team's goal to be as objective as possible in the analysis. He said

that most of the measures employed in the study erred on the side of being conservative. For instance, the team did not account for all the potential benefits when calculating air quality, nor in costeffectiveness of HOV lanes. The study effort involved a rigorous look at what data could be used and what couldn't. Fuhs indicated that in some cases there were gaps in the data set. But the emphasis was to only use data that was defensible and representative of what was really happening on the freeways. "This [HOV Performance Program] represents the largest HOV performance monitoring program ever to be undertaken anywhere in the entire nation," Fuhs said. "Then again, it's based upon one of the largest HOV systems anywhere in the world and certainly anywhere in the country." Fuhs prefaced that the data that he is about to present is only representative of



Los Angeles County. It is not representative of the adjoining counties of Orange and Riverside or San Bernardino.

Fuhs then presented the summary of findings. Among the research findings, the first was HOV utilization—there is high HOV lane utilization in Los Angeles County. Fuhs said, "The carpool system here, by and large, is certainly not suffering from lack of use. In L.A. County, it may be suffering in the very near future a more immediate problem of being too successful." Fuhs presented a chart showing that the majority of the HOV lanes in Los Angeles County are operating at or above 1,200 vehicles per hour. "We start loosing travel time benefits between 1,400 and 1,650 vehicles per hour," Fuhs said.

The second finding from the study concerned travel time savings. In comparing the travel time in HOV lanes versus the adjacent mixed-flow lanes, the study found significant time savings in almost every HOV corridor. In Los Angeles County, there appears to be time savings of at least a half a minute per mile, with many corridors achieving between fifteen and thirty minutes along the entire duration of the route. Fuhs also noted that the travel time savings were also reflected in the survey results. In fact, for every minute of actual time savings, the public seems to think that it's saving almost twice that. Fuhs said that we are not always successful in travel time savings. According to Fuhs, we are loosing travel time savings potential for three reasons: (1) lack of congestion in the mixed-flow lanes eliminates the opportunity for HOV lanes to provide a benefit, (2) excessive demand in the HOV lanes erodes travel time savings, and (3) time savings are lost partly because the HOV lane ends, resulting in an incomplete system.

The third finding involved person movement. Fuhs said that the carpool lanes are unequivocally moving more people than the mixed-flow lanes. He said that there is significant person movement in the majority of the HOV routes. An estimated 700,000 people use the carpool lane system each day in Los Angeles County, and this easily translates to over 1 million people being moved in carpool lanes in the three-county Southern California area. Fuhs said that this is almost fivefold the amount of daily usage of any other HOV system in the country.

The fourth study finding dealt with carpool lane formation. Fuhs noted that this was a question raised in the Roundtable Discussion earlier in the day. He said that through the survey efforts, with a fairly high degree of statistical reliability, the finding was that far more than half of the HOV lane users out there responded that they were previously single occupant drivers.

This represents a very significant change in driver behavior and mode shift. In fact, this data is corroborated by the occupancy count data. Fuhs said that the study took the additional step of evaluating some freeway control routes without HOV lanes, and had discovered a decline in average auto occupancies. On freeways with HOV lanes, average auto occupancies have either been sustained or, in many cases, have seen growth in auto occupancies, ranging from 10% to 15% over what was previously reported.



A fifth finding involved cost-effectiveness. Taken into consideration in the cost-effectiveness evaluation of HOV lanes was the life-cycle costs and benefits of HOV lanes. With most of the HOV lanes in Los Angeles County built in the early to mid 1990s, and a 20- to 25-year life cycle of HOV lanes, it was found that most of the HOV lanes have paid for themselves already, that is, they have generated HOV benefits that have more than paid for their costs. Fuhs noted that this finding was solely based on travel time savings. The study did not account or accrue any benefits such as emission reductions or accident changes or safety differentials.

A sixth was in transit usage of HOV lanes. It was concluded that the level of transit usage of HOV facilities was much lower in Los Angeles County compared to other cities such as Seattle and Dallas. Aside from the I-10 El Monte Busway and the I-110 Transitway, the rest of the county's HOV lanes are lacking in transit service.

A seventh dealt with safety. Are carpool lanes safe? Fuhs said that the study's accident analysis was inconclusive. The problem, in large part, is the way that accident data is recorded. Records of accidents are not always tabulated as to whether they occurred in the HOV lanes or in the mixed-flow lanes. In fact, the study will be recommending better training of CHP officers of the proper coding and possibly a redesign of the recording forms. The study found in some cases accidents increased where HOV lanes were implemented and in other places accidents had decreased. Therefore, the team found no strong correlation to indicate that carpool lanes are unsafe. Although the state has one of the highest violation rates in the country and a more established HOV system, the study found very low violation rates among HOV users, about 3% of all users.

An eighth concerned air quality benefits. The study found that though the emissions are much lower in the HOV lanes, the reductions appear miniscule compared to the overall number of trips being made in the corridor. Fuhs noted the need for better modeling to assess air quality over the long term. Fuhs said, "We can be very specific about the individual improvements of a lane or lane treatment, but we could not out of this effort validate the overall air quality [benefits] for the region."

Last was public support. It was clear from the survey results that the public strongly supports HOV lane investments in Los Angeles County. Fuhs said that it would be erroneous to think that greater marketing is needed to increase utilization, with so may of the routes already oversubscribed. According to Fuhs, marketing should focus more on the education side about using modes such as transit and vanpools.

Breakout Groups

Concurrent Sessions

Following the presentation by Chuck Fuhs, the attendees went into their selected breakout groups to discuss specific topic areas concerning HOV lanes. Summaries from each of the four breakout groups are presented below:

Breakout Group 1

"Saves Time Saves Time!": HOV Market Research

Cheryl Collier, Facilitator, Southern California Association of Governments

This group focused its attention on two areas: 1) How do we communicate time savings to the commuter market? and 2) How do we preserve the time savings that users of HOV lanes are currently enjoying? As was suggested earlier, HOV marketing has become a dilemma. With a number of the HOV lanes at or near capacity, the question for transportation agencies is how much marketing do we do at this point versus how much education? Many in the group felt that

marketing is still needed but more at a corridor specific approach. Collier said the marketing is still needed in HOV corridors, which are underutilized. In HOV corridors that are at or near capacity, marketing can be used to increase AVO through vanpooling programs as well as transit options.

"Rideshare Thursday" was a campaign that was initiated by Caltrans in the early 1990s. Though the program is no longer publicly funded, the media has carried this campaign forward. Many in the group felt that this is still an important message to get out to commuters because it's simple, it's a call to action, and it's just 1 day a week.



Collier said many in the group felt that education is needed to help users and potential users understand the location of HOV lane access points, occupancy requirements, park-and-ride facilities, and differences in regional HOV systems. In terms of how marketing should be communicated, suggestions included use of radio broadcasts, billboards with corridor specific messages about HOV lane travel time benefits or cost savings, ITS technologies that can cast messages directly to the driver, and alliances with other agencies as well as interest groups such as the Auto Club of Southern California. On the issue of preserving time savings, suggestions included marketing vanpools and transit in already congested HOV corridors, completing gap closures to provide continuity in the system, and better enforcement and incident response.

Breakout Groups 27

Breakout Group 2

"Where's the Bus?": HOV Transit Utilization and Lane Productivity

Dave Elbaum, Facilitator, Orange County Transportation Authority

Dave Elbaum said this breakout group had wide representation from across California as well as from New York, Seattle, and Dallas. This group focused its discussion in five areas: infrastructure, planning, funding, incentives for the private sector, and providing consumer information. In the area of infrastructure, many in this group felt that additional access ramps were needed to support transit routing, quality on- and off-line transit stations that are easily

accessible, good park-and-ride facilities, finishing the HOV connectors, greater emphasis on the quality of vehicles for express bus riders, and the elimination of HOV choke points. In the area of planning, Elbaum noted the suggestion for integrating transit planning with the planning of HOV lanes. "Too many communities have built HOV lanes on the promise that there will be express buses, and they never show up," Elbaum noted. The group also talked about creating incentives for the private sector. For example, many in the group suggested allowing private-sector operators to dead-



head in the HOV lanes regardless of the number of occupants. Subsidizing vanpool services was another suggestion made to increase HOV lane productivity. In terms of funding, the shortfall in funding to actually operate express bus services was noted. Allowing flexibility in the FTA rules on converting bus fleets to express buses was another suggestion. In the area of consumer information, Elbaum said the use of real-time information systems was emphasized, such as highway advisory radios and NextBus notices, as well as cooperation with the media to promote transit and vanpooling as part of its traffic reporting.

Breakout Group 3

"One Size Does Not Fit All": HOV Lane Operations

Antonette Clark, Facilitator, Caltrans

Antonette Clark facilitated the breakout group on HOV Lane Operations. The group focused its discussion on Los Angeles County because of the diversity of regions throughout the state. The group first talked about part-time versus full-time HOV lane operations in Los Angeles County. Many felt that full-time operations on all of the HOV lanes in Los Angeles County is appropriate. It's less confusing for the public with it being 24 h/day, 7 days a week. However, the need for flexibility was recognized. Clark also noted the suggestion for improved partnering, which was hit on a number of times earlier. The most appropriate agencies should be identified for each phase of HOV lane development, including planning, design, construction, and

operations. Weaknesses in the HOV system in Los Angeles County were identified as short periods of underutilization, limited or far-apart HOV access points, and lack of a program-specific public awareness campaign. Clark also talked about testing HOV productivity strategies which have proven to work in other parts of the country. Many in the group also emphasized the need for more demonstration projects, possibly reversible lanes or managed lane projects. Lastly, many felt there needs to be further ongoing studies on the performance of HOV lanes.



Breakout Group 4

"Will the Real Measures of Success Please Drive Forward?": HOV Performance Evaluation and Data Collection

Marlon Boarnet, Facilitator, University of California, Irvine

This breakout group began with the question of how would you know if an HOV lane is successful? Boarnet said there was consensus among the group that knowing what the goals and expectations of HOV lanes would be the paramount issue before determining success. However, there was no consensus on what the goals of a HOV lane should be. Boarnet said perhaps that, because HOV lanes are in the public arena, there are multiple possible goals, and that different people will prioritize them differently. "And one of the realities of HOV lane performance evaluation will be that there's going to be various goals," Boarnet said. Some of the goals which were identified by members of the group were encouraging carpooling, reducing congestion, and to a lesser extent improving air quality. Other goals talked about

were increasing person movement capacity, improving travel time savings for HOV lane users and non-users, increasing travel time reliability, providing an alternative mode choice, and also increasing safety. From the discussion, it was quite clear that HOV lanes have multiple goals.

Boarnet noted that there was, however, agreement on how HOV lanes should be evaluated. Evaluations should range from looking at just the lanes themselves to the freeway to the entire corridor and even to a network. This variation in scale should be employed based on the type of goal that is



Breakout Groups 29

being measured. There was also some support for more comparative evaluations of HOV lanes versus mixed-flow lanes. Lastly, many in the group recommended improved data collection procedures such as reliable volume and speed data at the loop detector level and to archive that data, additional travel time data, and ongoing travel surveys.

BREAKOUT GROUP SUMMARY

Deborah Redman then summarized the following additional points made in the breakout group discussions:

- Improve partnerships;
- Know what customers want;
- Expect a multiplicity of goals in transportation;
 - Do not preclude innovation;
- Refine goals with ongoing research; and
- Educate elected officials and the public so that funding can be secured.



Closing Remarks

EDWARD SULLIVAN

California Polytechnic State University, San Luis Obispo

pr. Sullivan provided the closing remarks for the 2002 California HOV Summit. He reiterated the following major themes and issues brought forth at this year's Summit:

- Complete the HOV system;
- Allow flexibility for integrating HOV lanes;
- Cultivate flexibility in marketing;
- Treat HOV lanes as part of an overall system;
- Build on remarkable public acceptance;
- Measure reliability;
- Remember that consumer choice is important;
- Monitor the overall AVO trend, which is going down but is up in HOV corridors;
- Disseminate information on HOV lanes more widely;
- Achieve rapid clearance of incidents and maintain proper enforcement;
- Address the problem of overutilized HOV lanes; and
- Give consideration to pricing strategies.

Breakout Group Summaries

The following is a listing of points made by breakout group participants.

Breakout Group 1

"Saves Time Saves Time!": HOV Market Research

Should we market the HOV system?

- Yes
 - Region/Corridor-sensitive marketing
 - Cumulative time-savings
 - "Trial Run": Rideshare Thursday

How should we market HOV lanes?

- Media ads
- Drive-time radio spots
- Billboards
- Electronic counter
- Internet banner
- ITS technology
- Auto-club/others agencies
- Rideshare program
- "Take-Your-HOV-to-Work" Day

What should we educate about HOV?

- Access points
- Occupancy requirements
- Time savings
- Park and Ride
- Different HOV systems
- Reliability

How do we preserve time savings?

- Selective application of marketing for different regions/corridors
- Peak-spreading
- Market transit/vanpool on some already highly congested corridors
 - Enforcement
 - Incident response/occupancy requirements
- Gap closure—complete the system

• Assess the impacts of special interest groups on HOV lane performance before implementing changes

Breakout Group 2

"Where's the Bus?": HOV Transit Utilization and Lane Productivity

- HOV lanes not accommodating to buses/transit
 - Design
 - Ingress/egress
 - Drop ramps
 - Direct access
- Need common vision for transit on HOV
- Need integration of highways and transit (network)
- Weaving of buses degrades level of service of freeway as well
- Direct connections to other modes of transportation
- Need money for service
- Need commitment/ownership of all regional facilities (highways/rail)
- Common "fare" card between all modes
- Buses on HOV are different market than regular service
- Subsidies for vanpools
- Subsidies/sanctions for employers
- Allow deadheading of certain vehicles—private shuttles/paratransit vehicles.
- Most people will only do one transfer during their commute, with no more than 15 minutes wait-time or less
 - Provide safety in stations
 - Need to identify heavy demand corridors to prioritize projects
 - Look at whole system when determining benefit/cost of one element
 - Need two HOV lanes?
 - Joint effort of public/private for Park-and-Ride lots (shopping malls)
 - Need information at stations and at home—schedules and real-time performance
 - Use highway advisory radio for corridor to guide motorists to other modes.
 - All agencies need to know alternative route (modes for all corridors—rail, highway)
- Highway and transit agencies need a common vision and money to fund them. Need to plan transit with land use, housing, jobs, development, etc.
 - Constraints of FTA need to be revised or modified
 - Partner with media for education during nonemergency and emergency periods
 - Infrastructure—transit-oriented

Breakout Group 3

"One Size Does Not Fit All!": HOV Lane Operations

Why should we customize? Most participants felt it was necessary to customize in order to improve efficiency of the entire freeway system and quality of life. Examples of improvements voiced during the session included supporting transit facilities, rideshare programs, etc. Participants brainstormed the Strengths, Weaknesses, Opportunities, and Threats with respect to the current full-time HOV lane hours of operation, vehicle occupancy, and lane configuration in the Los Angeles region.

Strengths:

- Less confusion (majority of HOV lanes in the LA region are consistently full-time)
- Flexibility (i.e., I-10 dual occupancies)
- Growing future users (children in carpools become familiar with HOV lanes and the incentives of using them)
 - Closing gaps between existing HOV lanes

Weaknesses:

- Under-used, midday
- Restricted entrances and exits
- Entrances and exits far apart
- Confusing signage (confusing to decide where to leave the HOV lane in advance of the desired general purpose freeway exit on the right)
 - Little public awareness information disseminated to the public on HOV lanes

Opportunities:

- Increased access
- Education
- Exchange of ideas with other states
- More connectivity
- Demonstration projects and studies

Threats:

- Inflexible
- Unfinished system
- Too many choices (confusion)

Actions:

- Partnering (public/private) with some agencies taking a lead
- Public information campaign

- Time savings/reliability
- Exchange information on configuration alternatives
- Improved access/connectivity
- Demonstration projects
- Studies/trends on safety, etc.

Breakout Group 4

"Will the Real Measures of Success Please Drive Forward?": HOV Performance Evaluation

What are our goals?

- Increase carpooling?
- Reduce congestion?
- Increase vehicle throughput?
- Increase person throughput?

What level of evaluation is appropriate?

- Lane
- Freeway
- Corridor

Differences of opinions on overriding goals

- Public arena—inherently multiple objectives
- Measure at various levels
- Comparative evaluation

Concerned with Pros and Cons

Measure of Success Depend on Goals

Possible Measures of Success

- Ability to grow carpools and transit
- Other measures
 - Air quality
 - Time savings
 - Improvement in reliability of trip time
 - Safety
- Person movement capacity
- More people in fewer vehicles

Two Stages for Comparison

- Planning: comparison with and without
- Actual operational

Summit Photos



Registration desk.



Heidi Stamm conversing with attendee.



Attendees in front of LACMTA exhibit.



Breakout group facilitators' pre-meeting.



Attendees in front of SCAG exhibit.



Darren Henderson, Parsons Brinckerhoff, watches over presentation logistics.

Participants List

Naresh Amatya L.A. County Metropolitan Transit Authority 818 West 7th St., 12th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90017-3435 213-236-1885

Dennis Azevedo Caltrans 703 B St. Marysville, CA 95901 530-741-5130 Fax: 530-741-5346

Gerald Bare Caltrans Reg. Planning & LARTS 120 S. Spring Los Angeles, CA 90012 213 8974389 Fax: 213 8971337

Dan Beal Auto Club of Southern California Public Policy and Programs 3333 Fairview Rd., A131 Costa Mesa, CA 92626 714-885-2306 Fax: 714-885-2331

John Billheimer SYSTAN, Inc. 343 Second St. P.O. Box U Los Altos, CA 94022 650-941-3311 Fax: 650-949-3395

Marlon Boarnet University of California, Irvine Deptartment of Urban and Regional Planning Irvine, CA 92697-7075 949-824-7695

Al Bowser Southern California Association of Governments 818 West 7th St., 12th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90017-3435 213-236-1843 Dan Brewer Caltrans—District 11, MS 50 P.O. Box 85406 2829 Juan St. San Diego, CA 92110 619 688 6804 Fax: 619-688-2511

Art Brook Marin County–Department of Public Works 3501 Civic Center Dr. Room 304 San Rafael, CA 94903 415-499-6752 Fax: 415-499-3799

Ellen Burton Orange County Transportation Authority 550 South Main St. Orange, CA 92863 714-560-5923 Fax: 714-560-5794

Robert Cady FHWA, California Division 980 9th St., Suite 400 Sacramento, CA 95814-2724 916-498-5038 Fax: 916-498-5008

Donald Capelle Transportation Research Board Member Emeritus 22181 Shade Tree Lane Lake Forest, CA 92630 949-859-8818

Thomas Carmichael L.A. County Metropolitan Transit Authority One Gateway Plaza Los Angeles, CA 90012 213-922-7227 Fax: 213-922-3022

Rose Casey Caltrans–District 7 120 S. Spring St., MS 16 Los Angeles, CA 90012 213-897-0970 Fax: 213-897-1634 Sarah Catz Former Chairwoman Orange County Transportation Authority 18101 Von Karman Ave., #1800 Irvine, CA 92612 949-463-3000

Arwen Chenery Senator Jack Scott's Office Room 5064 State Capitol Sacramento, CA 95814 916-445-5976 Fax: 916-324-7543

Stewart Chesler L.A. County Metropolitan Transit Authority One Gateway Plaza, MS: 99-23-7 Los Angeles, CA 90012-2952 213-922-2826

Tom Choe CalTrans–District 7 120 South Spring St. Los Angeles, CA 90012 213-897-0266 Fax: 213-897-0894

Antonette Clark Caltrans Traffic Operations 1120 N St., MS 36 Sacramento, CA 95814 916-653-4552 Fax: 916-653-3053

Cheryl Collier Southern California Association of Governments 818 West 7th St. 12th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90017-3435 213-236-1942

Maria Contreras-Sweet Business, Transportation and Housing Agency 980 9th St. Suite 2450 Sacramento, CA 95814-2719 916-323-5400

Robert Copp Caltrans Headquarters 1120 N St., MS #36 Sacramento, CA 95814 916-654-6912 Fax: 916-653-3055 L.A. County Metropolitan Transit Authority One Gateway Plaza, MS 99-22-4 Los Angeles, CA 90012-2952

213-922-3054 Fax: 213-922-3022

Kenneth Cude

Richard Cunard Transportation Research Board 500 Fifth St., NW Washington, DC 20001 202-334-2965 Fax: 202-334-2003

James de la Loza L.A. County Metropolitan Transit Authority One Gateway Plaza Los Angeles, CA 90012 213-922-3071 Fax: 213-922-7465

Tho Do Marin County–Department of Public Works 3501 Civic Center Dr. Room 304 San Rafael, CA 94903 415-499-6592 Fax: 415-499-3799

Richard Doyle Caltrans–District 8 464 W. Fourth St. San Bernardino, CA 92401 909-383-4147

Jim Edwards Sound Transit 401 So. Jackson St. Seattle, WA 98104 206-398-5436 Fax: 206-398-5215

Joe El Harake Caltrans 3337 Michelson Drive, Suite 380 Irvine, CA 92612 949-724-2373 Fax: 949-724-2592

David Elbaum Orange County Transportation Authority 550 South Main St. Orange, CA 92863 714-560-5745 Participants List 39

Keri Elsberry-Vidad Caltrans-Headquarters 1120 N St., MS 36 Sacramento, CA 95814 916-654-7139

Fax: 916-653-3055

Ayelet Ezran Kaku Associates 1453 Third St. Suite 400 Santa Monica, CA 90401 310-458-9916

Fax: 310-394-7663

Stephen Finnegan Auto Club of Southern California 3333 Fairview Rd., A131

Costa Mesa, CA 92626

714-885-2307

Chuck Fuhs

Parsons Brinckerhoff 11757 Katy Freeway, Suite 600 Houston, TX 77079 281-558-7273

Thomas Gaul Kaku Associates, Inc. 1453 Third St., Suite 400 Santa Monica, CA 90401 310-458-9916

Fax: 310-394-7663

Jon Grace Metropolitan Transportation Authority One Gateway Plaza Los Angeles, CA 90012-2932 213-922-4848

Fax: 213-922-6996

George Gray Transportation Consultant 9720 Oviedo St. San Diego, CA 92129 858-538-3027 Fax: 858-538-4929

Mike Gray Caltrans 1120 N St., MS-36 Sacramento, CA 95814 916-654-6133 Fax: 916-653-3053 Nicole Gutierrez Caltrans 11313 Darcy St. Santa Fe Springs, CA 90670

Kevin Haboian Parsons Transportation Group 4701 Von Karman Ave. Newport Beach, CA 92660 949-263-9322 Fax: 949-263-9322

Tony Harris Caltrans–Headquarters MS #49 1120 N St. Sacramento, CA 95814

Gene Hauck Super Shuttle 531 Van Ness Ave. Torrance, CA 90501 310-222-5500

Joseph Hecker Caltrans 1120 N St., MS 36 P.O. Box 942875 Sacramento, CA 94273-0001 916-654-2352 Fax: 916-653-6080

Dawn Helou Caltrans–District 7 120 South Spring St. Division of Operations Los Angeles, CA 90012 213-897-6672

Steve Heminger Metropolitan Transportation Commission 101 Eight St. Oakland, CA 94607 510-464-7700

Darren Henderson Parsons Brinckerhoff 505 S. Main St. Suite 900 Orange, CA 92868 714-564-2752 Mel Hodges Caltrans–District 7 120 South Spring St. Los Angeles, CA 90012 213-897-4637

Fax: 213-897-7413

Bob Huddy

Southern California Association of Governments 21845 E. Copley Dr. Diamond Bar, CA 91765 909-396-5757

Christopher Hughes *Airwatch America* 1551 N. Tustin Ave., #570 Santa Ana, CA 92705 714-647-0117

Lee Hultgren Transportation Consultant 4970 Academy St. San Diego, CA 92109-1401 858-272-2345

Benkin Jong

L.A. County Metropolitan Transit Authority One Gateway Plaza Los Angeles, CA 90012 213-922-3053

Fax: 213-922-3022

Betty Karnette Senator Senate District 27 State Capitol, Room 5066 Sacramento, CA 95814 916-445-6447

Tim Keenan Orange County Transportation Authority 550 South Main St. P.O. Box 14184 Orange, CA 92863-1584 714-892-9469

Doug Kimsey Metropolitan Transportation Commission 101 Eight St. Oakland, CA 94607 510-464-7794 Michelle Kirkhoff Director of Air Quality/Mobility Program SANBAG 472 N. Arrowhead Avenue San Bernardino, CA 92401 909-884-8276 Fax: 909-885-4407

Ron Klusza Retired Caltrans P O Box 221946 Newhall, CA 91322-1946 661-259-4349

Arthur Korfin Barrier Systems inc. 44 Cooper Run Dr. Cherry Hill, NJ 8003 856-424-8186 Fax: 509-692-5646

Mahesh Kuimil Dallas Area Rapid Transit P.O. Box 660163 Dallas, TX 75166-7212 214-749-2822 Fax: 214-749-3670

Allen Lawrence California Transportation Commission 1120 N St. Room 2221, MS 52 Sacramento, CA 95814 916-654-4245 Fax: 916-653-2134

Jeffrey Lindley FHWA Office of Travel Management 400 7th St., SW, HOTM-1 Washington, DC 20590 202-366-1285

Ernest Lopez SCAQMD 28165 E. Copley Dr. Diamond Bar, CA 91765 909.396.3305

Raymond Maekawa L.A. County Metropolitan Transit Authority One Gateway Plaza, MS 99-22-4 Los Angeles, CA 90012-2952 213-922-3016 Participants List 41

Jack Mallinckrodt AJM Engineering 14141 Stratton Way Santa Ana, CA 92705 714-544-3200

Edward Mark NYSDOT 47-40 21st St. 9th Floor Long Island, NY 11101 718-482-4559 Fax: 845 431 - 5723

Andrew McCluskey Caltrans 1120 N St., MS 49 Sacramento, CA 95814 916-653-9157

Fax: 916-654-4358

Mark McCourt Strategic Consulting & Research 18008 Skypark Circle Suite 145 Irvine, CA 92614 949-752-5900 Fax: 949-752-2900

Ray Mellen Auto Club of Southern California 3333 Fairview Rd. A131 Costa Mesa, CA 92626 714-885-2301

Melvin Mendoza Caltrans 11229 S. Woodruff Ave. Downey, CA 90012-2952

David Mootchnik 7202 Stonewood Dr. Huntington Beach, CA 92647 714-842 8766

Diane Morales Caltrans 464 W. 4th St., 6th floor, MS 728 San Bernardino, CA 92401-1400 909-383-5941 Fax: 909-383-5936 Kia Mortazavi Orange County Transportation Authority 550 South Main St. Orange, CA 92863 714-560-5741 Fax: 714-560-5794

Thom Niesen Caltrans 1120 N St., MS 49 P.O. Box 942873 Sacramento, CA 95814 916-654-6823 Fax: 916-654-6608

David Olivo L.A. County Metropolitan Transit Authority One Gateway Plaza, MS 99-22-4 Los Angeles, CA 90012-2952 213-922-6999

Eric Pahlke San Diego Association of Governments 401 B St., Suite 800 San Diego, CA 92101 619-595-5323 Fax: 619-595-5305

Jinny Park L.A. County Metropolitan Transportation Authority One Gateway Plaza, MS 99-22-4 Los Angeles, CA 90012-2952 213-922-7368

Robert Parrott San Diego Association of Governments 401 B St. Suite 800 San Diego, CA 92101 619-595-5300

Ed Petil Caltrans-District 12 3024 Juan St. San Diego, CA 92110 619-688-0218 Fax: 619-220-5364

James Pinheiro Caltrans 3337 Michelson Dr. Suite 380 Irvine, CA 92612-8894 949-724-2659 Fax: 949-724-2799 Mark Pisano Southern California Association of Governments 818 West 7th St. 12th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90017-3435 213-236-1808

Gene Pound Caltrans District 11, MS 50 P.O. Box 85406 2829 Juan St. San Diego, CA 92110 619 688 6681 Fax: 619 688 2511

Cindy Quon Caltrans 3337 Michelson Drive Suite 380 Irvine, CA 92612 949-724-2007 Fax: 949-724-2019

Frank Quon Department of Transportation 120 So. Spring St. Los Angeles, CA 90012 213-897-0362 Fax: 213-897-0360

Deborah Redman Redman Consulting 2656 Van Buren Place Los Angeles, CA 90007 323-717-0333

Joel Riphagen Legislative Analyst's Office 925 L St. Suite 1000 Sacramento, CA 95814 916-319-8360 Fax: 916-324-4281

Fax: 213-922-3005

Dolores Roybal L.A. County Metropolitan Transit Authority One Gateway Plaza, MS 99-22-2 Los Angeles, CA 90012 213-922-3024 Dave Schumacher Metropolitan Transit Development Board 1255 Imperial Avenue, Suite 1000 San Diego, CA 92101-7490 619-557-4565

Hanibal Seriani Caltrans 111 Grand Ave. 7th floor, Highway Operations Oakland, CA 94623 510-286-4653 Fax: 510-286-45350

Roger Snoble L.A. County Metropolitan Transportation Authority One Gateway Plaza, MS 99-25-1 Los Angeles, CA 90024-2952

Heidi Stamm HS Public Affairs 5869 Crystal Springs Drive NE Bainbridge Island, WA 98110 206-842-0155

Edward Sullivan California Polytechnic State University Deptartment of Civil and Environmental Engineering San Luis Obispo, CA 93407 805-756-1166

Ramakrishna Tadi Caltrans–District 8 464 W. Fourth St., 6th Floor, MS 726 San Bernardino, CA 92401 909-383-5904

Linda Taira Caltrans 120 S. Spring St. Los Angeles, CA 90012 213-897-0813 Fax: 213-897-1634

Ric Teano
Orange County Transportation Authority
550 South Main St.
P.O. Box 14184
Orange, CA 92863-1584
714-560-5716
Fax: 714-560-5794

Participants List 43

Hamid Toossi Caltrans–District 7 120 S. Spring St., MS 16 Los Angeles, CA 90012 213-897-7175

Fax: 213-897-1634

Peter Valk Transportation Management Services 234 East Colorado Blvd. Suite 400 Pasadena, CA 91101-2201 626-796-3384

Leticia Vega Caltrans 3024 Juan St. San Diego, CA 92064 619-688-6892 Fax: 619-220-5364

Heather Werdick San Diego Association of Governments 401 B St., Suite 800 San Diego, CA 92101 619-595-5367

Fax: 619-595-5305

Danny Wu City of Irvine One Civic Center Plaza P.O. Box 19575 Irvine, CA 92623-9575 949-724-7383

Albert Yee Caltrans P.O. Box 23660 Oakland, CA 94623-0660 510-286-4542 Fax: 510-286-4561

Steven Yoshizumi Parsons Brinckerhoff Quade & Douglas, Inc. 505 South Main St. Suite 900 Orange, CA 92866-1730 714-973-4880

Fax: 714-973-4918

THE NATIONAL ACADEMIES

Advisers to the Nation on Science, Engineering, and Medicine

The National Academy of Sciences is a private, nonprofit, self-perpetuating society of distinguished scholars engaged in scientific and engineering research, dedicated to the furtherance of science and technology and to their use for the general welfare. On the authority of the charter granted to it by the Congress in 1863, the Academy has a mandate that requires it to advise the federal government on scientific and technical matters. Dr. Bruce M. Alberts is president of the National Academy of Sciences.

The National Academy of Engineering was established in 1964, under the charter of the National Academy of Sciences, as a parallel organization of outstanding engineers. It is autonomous in its administration and in the selection of its members, sharing with the National Academy of Sciences the responsibility for advising the federal government. The National Academy of Engineering also sponsors engineering programs aimed at meeting national needs, encourages education and research, and recognizes the superior achievements of engineers. Dr. William A. Wulf is president of the National Academy of Engineering.

The **Institute of Medicine** was established in 1970 by the National Academy of Sciences to secure the services of eminent members of appropriate professions in the examination of policy matters pertaining to the health of the public. The Institute acts under the responsibility given to the National Academy of Sciences by its congressional charter to be an adviser to the federal government and, on its own initiative, to identify issues of medical care, research, and education. Dr. Harvey V. Fineberg is president of the Institute of Medicine.

The National Research Council was organized by the National Academy of Sciences in 1916 to associate the broad community of science and technology with the Academy's purposes of furthering knowledge and advising the federal government. Functioning in accordance with general policies determined by the Academy, the Council has become the principal operating agency of both the National Academy of Sciences and the National Academy of Engineering in providing services to the government, the public, and the scientific and engineering communities. The Council is administered jointly by both the Academies and the Institute of Medicine. Dr. Bruce M. Alberts and Dr. William A. Wulf are chair and vice chair, respectively, of the National Research Council.

The **Transportation Research Board** is a division of the National Research Council, which serves the National Academy of Sciences and the National Academy of Engineering. The Board's mission is to promote innovation and progress in transportation by stimulating and conducting research, facilitating the dissemination of information, and encouraging the implementation of research results. The Board's varied activities annually engage more than 4,000 engineers, scientists, and other transportation researchers and practitioners from the public and private sectors and academia, all of whom contribute their expertise in the public interest. The program is supported by state transportation departments, federal agencies including the component administrations of the U.S. Department of Transportation, and other organizations and individuals interested in the development of transportation. www.TRB.org

www.national-academies.org